
 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

ANNE W. BREAUD, 

PLAINTIFF 

VERSUS 

LATOYA W. CANTRELL, individually and in 
her official capacity as Mayor of the City of New 
Orleans; THE CITY OF NEW ORLEANS; 
THE NEW ORLEANS POLICE 
DEPARTMENT; CLIFTON DAVIS II, 
individually and in his official capacity as Chief 
of Staff of the Mayor of the City of New 
Orleans; VICTOR GANT, in his official 
capacity as a sergeant in the New Orleans Police 
Department; LESLIE D. GUZMAN, in her 
official capacity as an officer of the New Orleans 
Police Department; RYAN ST. MARTIN, in his 
official capacity as an officer of the New Orleans 
Police Department; and JOHN/JANE DOES 
NOS. 1-5    

DEFENDANTS 

CIVIL ACTION NO. 

SECTION 

MAGISTRATE 

**************************************************************************** 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT  

NOW COMES PLAINTIFF, Anne W. Breaud, through undersigned counsel and for her 

complaint against Defendants, avers upon information and belief as follows: 

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION  

1.     Anne W. Breaud files this complaint for the violation of her civil rights, the  

violation of federal law by individuals acting under the color of law, and violations of state law, 

including defamation, abuse of process, abuse of right, intentional infliction of emotional distress, 

malicious prosecution, general tort liability and vicariously liability against the parties made 

Defendants hereby and identified in Paragraph 10. 
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2. Plaintiff is a private citizen of New Orleans whose civil rights were violated by the 

conspiring defendants acting under the color of law and who has suffered severe and permanent 

damage to her otherwise unblemished reputation. 

3. LaToya W. Cantrell and some of the Defendants—law enforcement officers and 

City of New Orleans employees—violated federal and state law to obtain the Plaintiff’s private 

personal information, including, but not limited to her date of birth, her full Social Security 

number, and a dated photograph (late 1980s/early 1990s) which appears to be obtained from the 

Louisiana Department of Motor Vehicles.  In addition to obtaining this private personal 

information, Defendant Cantrell and other Defendants improperly obtained a criminal history on 

Breaud, which included a 2016 arrest of Breaud in Assumption Parish, Louisiana related to an 

alleged domestic violence incident.1   Armed with this illegally obtained mis-information, on 

Friday, May 10, 2024 at approximately 3:41 p.m., Defendant Cantrell, purportedly acting a pro se 

litigant, caused her spurious Petition for Protection from Stalking or Sexual Assault pursuant to 

La. R.S. 46:2171, et seq. to be filed in the Civil District Court for the Parish of Orleans, Louisiana, 

which said Petition was riddled with false and unsubstantiated accusations of stalking and 

harassing, many of which were outrageous fabrications and outright lies. 

4. Within an hour of the filing of said Petition, the Civil District Court Duty Judge at 

the time signed the ex parte and perfunctory Order of Protection in the form of a temporary 

restraining order against Breaud, preventing Breaud from engaging in certain constitutionally 

protected and basic activities such as visiting New Orleans’ City Hall and patronizing any 

 
1 In truth, Breaud was the victim of  a domestic violence incident that led to Breaud’s wrongful arrest in Assumption 
Parish, Louisiana in 2016.   
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establishment where Cantrell  was present, and setting an initial hearing on the matter for Monday, 

May 20, 2024.   

5. In response to Cantrell’s Petition which was sought to inhibit Breaud’s First 

Amendment constitutionally protected activities, Plaintiff Anne Breaud filed a Special Motion to 

Strike pursuant to Louisiana Code of Civil Procedure art. 971, Louisiana’s Anti-SLAPP legislation.  

The hearing on Breaud’s Special Motion to Strike was likewise set for a contradictory hearing on 

May 20, 2024.     

6. Although Anne Breaud was prepared to go forward with the two (2) matters 

scheduled for hearing on May 20, 2024 (Cantrell’s Petition for Protection as well as  Breaud’s 

Special Motion to Strike) just prior to the hearing, Eddie Castaing, Cantrell’s legal counsel 

indicated that he had just been retained the night before and needed a continuance to familiarize 

himself with the facts of the case before Cantrell could proceed.  

7. Because Cantrell had allegedly filed her Petition for Protection as a pro se litigant, 

the District Court granted the requested continuance and extended the TRO against Breaud for 

another twenty-eight (28) days until the new hearing date of June 18, 2024.         

8. On June 18, 2024, after a contradictory hearing, the district court  granted Breaud’s 

Special Motion to Strike pursuant to Louisiana Code of Civil Procedure art. 971, Louisiana’s Anti-

SLAPP legislation, and Cantrell’s Petition for Protection was summarily dismissed.  The District 

Court further awarded Breaud the legal fees and costs she incurred in defending Cantrell’s spurious 

Petition for Protection.  Unfortunately, the damage had already been done. Cantrell, with the 

assistance of other City actors acting within the course and scope of their employment had already 

caused Breaud harm while trouncing on federal and state law. Breaud’s civil rights were trampled 



 
4. 

 

as well, and her reputation was irreparably damaged without a scintilla of justification. She now 

seeks relief. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

9. The first count of this action arises under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. This Honorable Court 

has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 28 U.S.C. § 1343. 

10. The second count of this action arises under the Driver’s Privacy Protection Act - 

§18 U.S.C. §§ 2721-2725. This Honorable Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 18 

U.S.C. § 2724. 

11. The third count of this action arises under the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act 

(CFAA) – 18 U.S.C. § 1030.  This Honorable Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 

18 U.S.C. § 2724. 

12. The fourth count in this action arises under the Electronic Communications Privacy 

Act (ECPA) – 18 U.S.C. §§ 2510-2523.  This Honorable Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 

1331 and 18 U.S.C. § 2724. 

13. The fifth count of this action arises under the Fourth Amendment of the Unites 

States Constitution.     

14. The sixth, seventh, eighth, ninth, tenth, eleventh and twelfth counts of this action 

arise under Louisiana law. This Honorable Court has supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 

1367 because each of these claims are “so related to claims in the action within such original 

jurisdiction that [it] form[s] part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United 

States Constitution.” 
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15. The thirteenth count of this action arises under the Civil Racketeer Influenced and 

Corrupt Organizations (Civil RICO) Act 18 U.S.C. § Section 1962 (c) and (d).  This Honorable 

Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 18 U.S.C. § 2724 

 

16.  Venue is proper in this Honorable Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because this 

Court is in “a judicial district in which a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to 

the claim occurred.” Venue for the Civil RICO claim is proper under 18 U.S.C. § 1965(a). 

III. PARTIES  

17. Made Plaintiff hereby, Anne W. Breaud (“Breaud”), a person of the age of majority 

is a resident of the Parish of Orleans, State of Louisiana.  

18. The following are made Defendants in this suit and are indebted unto the Plaintiff 

jointly, severally, and in solido for such damages as are reasonably equitable, including costs, 

attorney fees as allowed for by law, if any, together with legal interest thereon from the date of 

judicial demand until paid: 

(a) LaToya W. Cantrell (“Cantrell”), individually and as Mayor of 
the City of New Orleans, who is a person of the full age of majority 
and a resident of the Parish of Orleans, State of Louisiana; 

(b) The City of New Orleans (“City”), a political subdivision of the 
State of Louisiana, operating under its own Home Rule Charter, with 
its principal offices in New Orleans City Hall, 1300 Perdido Street, 
New Orleans, Louisiana 70112;  

(c) New Orleans Police Department (NOPD”), a department under 
the care, custody, and control of the City of New Orleans, existing 
under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Louisiana and the 
New Orleans Home Rule Charter;   

(d) Clifton M. Davis II (“Davis”), individually and in his capacity as 
Chief of Staff of Mayor LaToya W. Cantrell and believed to be a 
resident of the Parish of Orleans Parish, State of Louisiana; 
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(e) Leslie D. Guzman (“Guzman”), in her capacity as a Senior Police 
Officer employed by the NOPD and believed to be a resident of the 
Parish of Orleans, State of Louisiana;  

(f) Ryan St. Martin (“St. Martin”), in his capacity as a police officer 
employed by the NOPD and believed to be a resident of the Parish 
of Orleans, State of Louisiana;  

(g) John/Jane Does Nos. 1-5 (collectively “The Does”), are as-yet 
 unknown individuals or entities involved in the acquisition and 
dissemination of Anne Breaud’s private personal information and the 
damages to her caused thereby. They are sued in their official and/or  
individual capacities. 

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 
19. On Sunday, April 7, 2024, Plaintiff Anne Breaud returned to her home located in 

the Upper Pontalba Apartments on the southwest corner of the intersection of Chartres and St. Peter 

Streets and walked out onto the portion of her second-floor balcony that fronts on Chartres Street.  

20. Upon taking a cursory glance at the second-floor Tableau Restaurant balcony which 

is no more than twenty-five (25) feet from Breaud’s balcony, Breaud observed defendant and Mayor 

of the City of New Orleans, LaToya W. Cantrell, sitting at table with NOPD Officer Jeffrey P. 

Vappie II (“Vappie”) appearing to be enjoying a meal and a bottle of wine. 

21. Knowing that Vappie was a member of Cantrell’s Executive Protection Unit, a 

division on the NOPD that is charged with providing protection to Defendant Cantrell in her 

capacity as Mayor of the City of New Orleans, Breaud deemed Cantrell and Vappie’s behavior 

inappropriate and captured two (2) photographs of Defendant Cantrell and Vappie eating and 

drinking alcoholic beverages on the Tableau Restaurant balcony. 

22. Specifically, upon information and belief, receipts obtained from Tableau 

Restaurant from Sunday, April 7, 2024 reflect that Defendant Cantrell and Vappie ordered a total 

of two (2) mimosas and a bottle of wine.  
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23. Contrary to the allegations of Defendant Cantrell infra, the following two (2) 

photographs are the only photographs of Cantrell and/or Vappie that Breaud took on April 7, 

2024 at approximately 5:34 p.m.: 

 

 

24. Subsequent to taking these two (2) photographs, Anne Breaud forwarded said 

photographs to Raphael Goyeneche, the President of the Metropolitan Crime Commission, Inc. (the 

“MCC”), a non-profit community watch-dog organization, which has a stated goal “to reduce crime and 

expose corruption throughout Louisiana with a strategy of investigating wrongdoing, being a 

conduit for citizens to report misconduct, and by bringing accountability and transparency to the 

criminal justice system through research.”    

25. Thereafter, on or about April 12, 2024, the MCC reported the April 7, 2024 incident 

at Tableau Restaurant to Deputy Chief Keith Sanchez of the NOPD’s Public Integrity Bureau, 

including the photographs that Breaud captured on April 7, 2024 requesting that an investigation of 
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Vappie’s conduct with his protectee, Defendant Cantrell on April 7, 2024 be opened.  A copy of 

MCC’s request to the NOPD’s Public Integrity Bureau is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

26. At some point shortly after the MCC’s April 12th reporting of the Tableau Restaurant 

incident to the NOPD’s Public Integrity Bureau, various media outlets published the April 7, 2024 

photographs of Defendant Cantrell and Vappie appearing to enjoy the bottle of wine on the Tableau 

Restaurant Balcony that Breaud captured from her home balcony.  

27. Although neither Breaud’s April 7, 2024 photographs of Defendant Cantrell and 

Vappie on the Tableau Restaurant Balcony nor the MCC’s April 12, 2024 reporting of the incident 

to the NOPD’s Public Integrity Bureau prompted an immediate response by Defendant Cantrell 

against Breaud, on the evening of Wednesday, May 8, 2024, reporter Lee Zurik of Fox 8 News 

aired a news story which included a third (3rd) photograph of Defendant Cantrell and Vappie 

appearing to enjoy of glass of wine together at French Quarter restaurant Doris Metropolitan located 

at the corner of Chartres and Wilkinson Street, right around the corner from the City’s Upper 

Pontalba apartment which Defendant Cantrell had converted into her primary residence. 

28. Plaintiff Anne Breaud did not capture this third (3rd) photo, but Fox 8 News and 

other media sources reported that the third (3rd) photograph of Defendant Cantrell and Vappie that 

was published on Wednesday, May 8, 2024 was purportedly captured on Thursday, July 28, 2022 

at approximately 8:20 p.m.2  

29. Public records obtained from the City of New Orleans reflect that Vappie was on 

duty as part of Defendant Cantrell’s executive protection detail at the time Plaintiff Breaud 

 
2 Raphael Goyeneche, President of the Metropolitan Crime Commission has confirmed that he did not receive the 
July 28, 2022 photograph of Defendant Cantrell and Vappie from Plaintiff Breaud, but instead, received it from a 
City of New Orleans employee, who, for obvious reasons wishes to remain anonymous.  
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photographed Defendant Cantrell and Vappie on the Tableau Restaurant balcony at approximately 

5:34 p.m. on Sunday, April 7, 2024. 

30. Public records obtained from the City of New Orleans likewise reflect that Vappie 

was also on duty as a part of Defendant Cantrell’s executive protection detail on Thursday, July 28, 

2022 at approximately 8:20 p.m. when the newly revealed photograph of Defendant Cantrell and 

Vappie drinking wine together at Doris Metropolitan was captured.  

31. Public records obtained from the City of New Orleans reflect that Defendant Cantrell 

was not in New Orleans when Fox 8 News first aired its May 8, 2024 news segment where the July 

28, 2022 Doris Metropolitan restaurant photograph of Defendant Cantrell and Vappie was first 

published, but confirm that Defendant Cantrell arrived back in New Orleans later that night at 

approximately 10:50 p.m. from an official trip to Montreal, Quebec, Canada. 

32. The very next day, Thursday, May 9, 2024, NOPD Incident Report E-08673-24 

reflects that Defendant Cantrell summoned the NOPD, not to her personal resident or some non-

City owned site, but to the Mayor’s office on the second floor of City Hall to lodge an official 

complaint against Plaintiff Breaud for allegedly stalking and harassing Defendant Cantrell.  A copy 

of said NOPD Incident Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “B”.   

33.  According to NOPD Incident Report E-08673-24, Defendant Leslie D. Guzman, a 

Senior Officer with the NOPD who primarily serves the NOPD as a translator, was dispatched to 

Cantrell’s office in City Hall where Guzman purportedly interviewed Cantrell and purportedly took 

her statement at 1:00 p.m. on Thursday, May 9, 2024.  

34. Upon information and belief, coupled with additional information obtained from the 

New Orleans Police Department’s website, Defendant Guzman is not a detective, nor is a member 
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of the Executive Protection Ueam, nor is she assigned to NOPD’s Eighth (8th) District which is the 

district in which New Orleans City Hall is situated. 3    

35. NOPD Incident Report E-08673-24 reflects that during the interview with Cantrell, 

Cantrell “advised she [was] being harassed/followed by a female with the name of Anne Breaud, 

W/F DOB [redacted] who ha[d] been photographing her and distributing said images to the media 

outlets.” 

36. These statements are false and show actual malice on the part of Defendant Cantrell.   

She acted in reckless disregard for the truth.  Further they are Per Se Defamatory.    

37. NOPD Incident Report E-08673-24 further reflects that during the interview with 

Defendant Cantrell, Defendant Cantrell “advised [Officer Guzman] the last time [Cantrell] 

observed Breaud follow her and take more unsolicited images was on Sunday, April 7, 2024 at 

about 1:30 p.m.” 

38. This statement is completely false and shows actual malice on the part of Defendant 

Cantrell.  Plaintiff Breaud was on the Mississippi Gulf Coast at 1:30 p.m. that day and did not return 

to her Upper Pontalba Apartment until after 5:00 p.m. on Sunday, April 7, 2024.  Defendant Cantrell 

again acted in reckless disregard for the truth.   

39. NOPD Incident Report E-08673-24 further reflects that during the interview with 

Defendant Cantrell, Cantrell “advised [Cantrell] had asked Breaud to stop following her and to 

stop taking photographs, to which [Breaud] ha[d] persistendly [sic] continued to do so.” 

40. These statements are patently false, and Defendant Cantrell can produce no evidence 

to substantiate these spurious allegations.  Anne Breaud has never received any communications 

 
3 The assignment of Defendant Leslie D. Guzman to take Defendant Cantrell’s statement has been called into 
question because, as indicated in NOPD Incident Report E-08673-24, Defendant Guzman “does not wear a body 
worn camera, therefore the incident reported was not recorded.” 
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from Defendant Cantrell, any member of the Executive Protection Unit, Cantrell’s attorney, or any 

representative of Cantrell’s office.    

41. NOPD Incident Report E-08673-24 further reflects that during the interview with 

Defendant Cantrell, Cantrell “complained that she feels unsafe and frightened by the menacing 

behavior of Breaud to the point [Cantrell] is afraid for her safety and her loved ones.” 

42. This statement includes false and misleading information and constitutes a Per Se 

Defamatory statement about Plaintiff Anne Breaud.  

43. NOPD Incident Report E-08673-24 further reflects that during the interview with 

Defendant Cantrell, Cantrell “continued [the interview with Defendant Guzman] by asking 

instructions to follow [sic] a stay away order to have Breaud served by the Court, to which SPO 

Guzman provided information to the victim.” 

44. Most significant in NOPD Incident Report E-08673-24 is the fact that it reflects that 

“Breaud had a criminal history for aggravated battery (arrested in 2016 in Assumption Parish).”  

45. This statement is Per Se Defamatory, because had any of the defendants named 

herein taken the time to check the circumstances surrounding Plaintiff Breaud’s 2016 arrest in 

Assumption Parish, Louisiana, they would have learned that Breaud was actually a victim in the 

2016 incident and thus was never charged in the matter and that the record of said arrest was 

expunged.  

46. Upon information and belief and based on the sequencing of statements in Defendant 

Guzman’s official incident report, it appears that Defendant Cantrell had obtained Breaud’s 

criminal history prior to Defendant Guzman’s arrival at City Hall at about 1:00 p.m. on Thursday, 

May 9, 2024. 
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47. Although Defendant Guzman is not assigned to Cantrell’s Executive Protection 

Unit, Defendant Victor M. Gant, a sergeant with NOPD and supervisor of the Executive Protection 

Unit reviewed and signed off on NOPD Incident No. E-08673-24. 

48. By drafting, approving and publishing NOPD Incident No. E-08673-24 without any 

investigation or inquiry of Breaud, Defendants Guzman and Gant aided and abetted Defendant 

Cantrell’s duplicity in fabricating a false police report that Defendant Cantrell calculated would 

bolster her Petition for Protection against Plaintiff Anne Breaud.   

49. Prior to NOPD making Incident No. E-08673-24 available to the public by obtaining 

a copy at NOPD headquarters, Defendant Gant, presumably with more experience than Defendant 

Guzman, had the opportunity to clarify Defendant Cantrell’s statements and yet failed to do so, 

further contributing to the dissemination of false and defamatory statements about Breaud.     

50. Upon information and belief, Defendant Ryan St. Martin, who is further believed to 

be assigned to the stolen vehicle division of the NOPD was one of the NOPD police officers who 

accessed the Louisiana Department of Motor Vehicles database where he obtained the dated 

photograph of Plaintiff Breaud captured in the late 1980s or early 1990s, and potentially other 

private personal information belonging to Breaud.   

51. Based on the statements that Defendant Cantrell made to Defendant Guzman and 

documented in Guzman’s NOPD Incident Report No. E-08673-24, coupled with the allegations 

contained in Defendant Cantrell’s Petition for Protection, it appears that Breaud’s private personal 

information was accessed, obtained and provided to Defendant Cantrell at some point between 5:00 

p.m. on Wednesday, May, 9, 2024 and 3:30 p.m. Friday, May 10, 2024, although Plaintiff Breaud 

is currently unaware of all of the parties that were in the chain of custody of Breaud’s private 

personal information.    
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52. Further, upon information and belief, Defendant St. Martin, and potentially other 

unknown Defendants John/Jane Doe members of the NOPD and employees of the City of New 

Orleans, acting under color of state and local law, provided Defendant Cantrell with access to and/or 

a copy of Breaud’s private personal information.   

53. There was no legal basis or other justification supporting Defendant St. Martin’s and 

potentially other NOPD/City of New Orleans employees’ dissemination and disclosure of Anne 

Breaud’s private personal information to Defendant Cantrell and this would not have been done, but 

for the fact that Defendant Cantrell is the Mayor of the City of New Orleans and thus the superior of 

every NOPD officer and City employee.    

54. To the contrary, upon information and belief, Anne Breaud’s private personal 

information was provided to Defendants Cantrell and Davis in response to an official request made 

by the Mayor’s Office although Cantrell’s false and defamatory allegations against Breaud had 

nothing to do with official City of New Orleans business.  

55.  Simply put, Defendant St. Martin, Defendant Davis and/or potentially other named 

and/or unknown defendants colluded and conspired with Defendant Cantrell in an attempt to quell 

Anne Breaud’s protected speech under the United States and Louisiana Constitutions.   

56. Upon information and belief, Defendants Cantrell and Davis relied on the private 

personal information provided to them by Defendant St. Martin and other named and/or unknown 

defendants to prepare Cantrell’s Petition for Protection, which alleged a series of false and 

defamatory claims against Plaintiff Anne Breaud.  
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57. Upon information and belief, Defendants Cantrell and Davis used Plaintiff Anne 

Breaud’s private personal information in Cantrell’s legal action against Breaud and violated her 

civil rights.  

58. Rather than evaluate this information and act accordingly, Defendant Cantrell’s 

response was to include it in her Petition for Protection to bolster her wild and unfounded 

accusations against Breaud. 

59. Upon information and belief, Defendant Cantrell would not have filed her Petition 

for Protection against Plaintiff Anne Breaud but for his improper access to Breaud’s private 

personal information obtained improperly and under knowingly false pretenses by Defendant St. 

Martin and perhaps other named and/or unknown defendants.  

 

60. The day after filing NOPD Incident Report No. No. E-08673-24 with Defendant 

Leslie Guzman, on Friday, May 10, 2024 at approximately 3:41 p.m., Cantrell caused a hand-

written Petition for Protection from Stalking or Sexual Assault pursuant to La. R.S. 46:2171 et seq. 

or La. R.S. 46:2181 et seq.  A copy of said Petition for Protection is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“C” and made a part hereof.  

61. Although the Petition for Protection purports to be a pro se petition written out by 

Defendant Cantrell herself, upon information and belief, it appears that at least a portion of said 

Petition was actually written by Defendant Clifton M. Davis II, Defendant Cantrell’s Chief of Staff 

and currently suspended Louisiana attorney, who hand-wrote the allegations of Defendant Cantrell 

on the pre-printed form Petition for Protection.  
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62. Upon information and belief, it was not Defendant Cantrell who actually walked 

over to Civil District Court and filed it in Civil District Court on Friday, May 10, 2024 at 

approximately 3:41 p.m., but Defendant Davis who filed said Petition on Cantrell’s behalf.    

63. The May 10, 2024 Petition for Protection captioned LaToya W. Cantrell  v. Anne 

W. Breaud, No. 2024-04268, Division K-2 in the Civil District Court for the Parish of Orleans, 

State of Louisiana (hereinafter, the “Protective Order Case”), was the catalyst of all events giving 

rise to the instant suit. 

 

64. In her Petition for Protection filed in the Protective Order Case, Defendant Cantrell 

made several patently false and misleading allegations against Breaud, including all of the marked 

allegations in Paragraph 7(a) below in which Defendant Cantrell swears under oath and subject to 

criminal perjury that Plaintiff Anne Breaud: 
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65. All of the allegations listed above in Paragraph 64 hereof (Paragraph 7 (a) of the 

Petition for Protection) are false and made in reckless disregard for the truth and thus are Per Se 

Defamatory statements.  

66. At no place in her Petition for Protection or at any time after Defendant Cantrell 

caused her Petition for Protection to be filed with the Court has Defendant Cantrell cited any 

specific incidents (besides Breaud’s taking the two (2) photographs of Defendants Cantrell and 

Vappie on the Tableau Restaurant balcony on April 7, 2024) to substantiate her claims in Paragraph 

7(a) of her Petition for Protection.   

67.  In addition to the specious and unsubstantiated allegations in Paragraph 7 (a) of 

Defendant Cantrell’s Petition for Protection, in Paragraph 7(c) of her Petition, Defendant Cantrell 

also made the following false allegations related to Breaud’s actions on Sunday, April 7, 2024: 

A.   “The defendant aggressively photographed and harassed me while having  
  lunch on a restaurant balcony.” 
 

B. “The defendant went out of her way to be certain I felt her presence and to 
notice that she was capturing countless photos of me.” 
  

C. “The defendant then proceeded to the street to find my vehicle, where she 
captured additional photos and video.” 

 
D. “The defendant made several phone calls in my sight.” 

 
E. “The defendant’s photos were made available to Fox 8 News as she has 

consistently done over the past two years.” 
 

 
68. All of Defendant Cantrell’s statements set forth in Paragraph 67 above (Paragraph 7 

(c) of Cantrell’s Petition for Protection)  are false and written in reckless disregard of the truth.  

Further, Defendant Cantrell’s assertion that Plaintiff Breaud “proceeded to the street to find [her] 

vehicle, where [Breaud] captured additional photos and video” is a bald-faced lie and constitutes 
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perjury pursuant to LSA-R.S. 14:123.  Metadata available on Plaintiff Breaud’s phone will reflect 

that Breaud only took the two (2) photos of Defendants Cantrell and Vappie included in Paragraph 

23 hereof.    

69. In the second portion of Paragraph 7 (c) of the Petition for Protection which 

addresses “past incidents” of alleged harassment, Defendant Cantrell continued with the following 

false and libelous statements: 

A. “The defendant has been the source of photographs and video (over 800 
hours of video) that has [sic] been used to attack, dehumanize, 
weaponize my character and caused harm; risking my overall safety.” 
 

B. “The defendant has a history of assault and I am not safe.” 

70. These statements are patently false and in addition to being made in reckless 

disregard for the truth are Per Se Defamatory.  Further, Defendant Cantrell completely fabricates 

that Plaintiff Anne Breaud “has been the source of   . . . over 800 hours of video).”  Ironically, the 

hundreds of hours of videos for which Defendant Cantrell falsely attributes to Breaud and offer as 

previous incidents of harassment were captured on the City of New Orleans-installed security 

cameras that were installed as a result of Defendant Cantrell’s conversion of the City’s Upper 

Pontalba apartment into her own personal residence where she regularly maintained a romantic 

relationship with Vappie.      

71. In addition to the false, defamatory and perjurious allegations set forth in the 

Petition for Protection, Page 6 of 7 of said Petition contains a pre-printed “Affirmation” that 

appears to be signed by Defendant LaToya W. Cantrell and witnessed Defendant Davis, Cantrell’s 

Chief of Staff and City of New Orleans employee.  
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72. Specifically, said Affirmation reads as follows: 

“I am the petitioner in this Petition for Protection from Stalking or 

Sexual Abuse; I have read the allegations contained therein and 

declared them to be true and correct to the best of my knowledge, 

information, and belief.  Further I believe that the defendant poses a 

threat to my safety and/or to the child(ren) or to other for whom I 

have requested relief. 

I am aware that any false statement made under oath contain in the 

foregoing petition and this affirmation may constitute perjury 

pursuant to R.S. 14:123.” 

  

73. As reflected in attached Exhibit “C”, Page 7 of 7 of Cantrell’s Petition for Protection 

also includes an Addendum which reads as follows4: 

 

 
4 Although Anne Breaud’s Social Security number has been redacted above, the original Petition for Protection filed 
by Defendant Cantrell recited Breaud’s entire Social Security number and date of birth with no redaction.  
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74. In addition to the seven (7) pre-printed pages of the Petition for Protection, 

Defendant Cantrell also caused to be attached to the filed Petition:  1) a New Orleans Police 

Department Form 26, which provided an “Item No.” for the NOPD Incident Report No. E-08673-

24 that Defendant Leslie D. Guzman drafted and which Defendant Gant approved; and 2) the dated 

photograph of Plaintiff Anne Breaud that appears to be an official photograph from the department 

of motor vehicles in the late 1980s or early 1990s. 

 
75. After filing the Petition for Protection on May 10, 2024 at 3:41 p.m., minutes later, 

at approximately 4:18 p.m., the Honorable Paulette R. Irons, sitting as Duty Judge for the Civil 

District Court for the Parish of Orleans, State of Louisiana issued the requested “Order of 

Protection” in the form of a “Temporary Restraining Order” against Plaintiff Anne Breaud finding 

“that the allegations presented [in Cantrell’s Petition for Protection] constitute an immediate and 

present danger of stalking.”  

76. Upon said finding, the Court further ordered that: 

A. “THE DEFENDANT [Breaud] IS ORDERED NOT TO abuse, harass, assault, 

stalk, follow, track, monitor, or threaten the protected person(s) in any matter 

whatsoever.  This prohibition includes the use, attempted use, or threatened use 

of physical force that would reasonably be expected to caused bodily injury.”  

  

B. “THE DEFENDANT [Breaud] IS ORDERED NOT TO contact the protected 

person(s) personally, though a third party, or via public posting, by any means, 

including written, telephone, or electronic (text, email, messaging, or social 

media) communication without the express written permission of this court.” 

 
C.  “THE DEFENDANT [Breaud] IS ORDERED NOT TO go within 100 yards 

(distance) of the protected person(s) , without the express permission of this 

court.” 

 
D. “THE DEFENDANT [Breaud] IS ORDERED NOT TO go within one hundred 

(100) yards of the residence, apartment complex, or multiple family dwelling of 

the protected person(s).  3623 Louisiana Parkway, New Orleans, LA  70125” 
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E. “THE DEFENDANT [Breaud] IS ORDERED TO STAY AWAY from 

protected person(s)’ place of employment/school and not interfere in any manner 

with such employment/school.”  1300 Perdido Street, New Orleans, LA  70112 

and 5300 St. Charles, New Orleans, LA 70115.” 

 
F.  “THE DEFENDANT [Breaud] IS ORDERED NOT TO contact family 

members or acquaintances of the protected person(s). 

 

77. Anne Breaud never has never stalked, harassed, or intimidated anyone and never 

had any motivation to stalk, harass, or intimidate anyone. 

78. Defendant Cantrell falsely implies that Plaintiff Breaud is a violent person prone to 

assault other people.   

79.  The language contained in Defendant Cantrell’s Petition for Protection was lifted 

nearly verbatim from La. R.S. § 14:40.2, Louisiana’s criminal statute on stalking. This was a vain 

attempt to create and describe a crime where there was none. 

 

V. LAW AND ARGUMENT 

A. COUNT 1: VIOLATIONS OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

80. “To state a claim for relief in an action brought under § 1983, respondents must 

establish that they were deprived of a right secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States, 

and that the alleged deprivation was committed under color of state law.”5
  

81. Defendants Guzman, Gant, St. Martin, NOPD, City and unnamed John/Jane Doe 

Defendants, acting individually under the color of state and local law, violated federal law and 

deprived Plaintiff Breaud of the protections guaranteed to her under the Constitution and the laws 

of the United States. 

 
5 Am. Mfrs. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Sullivan, 526 U.S. 40, 49-50, 119 S. Ct. 977, 985, 143 L. Ed. 2d 130 (1999). 
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82. Defendants Guzman, Gant, St. Martin, NOPD, City and unnamed Defendants 

John/Jane Does violated Anne Breaud’s privacy and due process rights by obtaining Breaud’s 

private personal information under knowingly false pretenses, and further, by providing that 

information to Defendants Cantrell and Davis. Plaintiff Breaud now sues Defendants Guzman, 

Gant, St. Martin, NOPD, City and unnamed Defendants John/Jane Does, individually, under 42 

U.S.C. § 1983. 

83. Defendants Guzman, Gant, St. Martin, NOPD, City and unnamed Defendants 

John/Jane Does violated Breaud’s privacy and due process rights by transmitting to Defendants 

Cantrell and Davis information about Breaud which was ultimately used to bolster baseless claims 

and a suit against Breaud.  Breaud now sues Defendants Guzman, Gant, St. Martin, NOPD, City 

and unnamed Defendants John/Jane Does, individually, under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

B. COUNT 2: VIOLATIONS OF 18 U.S.C. § 2721 – DRIVER’S PRIVACY 
PROTECTION ACT 

83. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

84. 18 U.S.C. § 2721 prohibits the disclosure and redisclosure of personal information, 

including name and address, as retrieved from the State motor vehicle records except for a certain 

list of in enumerated “permissible uses.” 

85. Furthermore, 18 U.S.C. § 2722, declares that: 

(a) “It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly to obtain or disclose 
personal information, from a motor vehicle record, for any use not 
permitted under section 2721(b) of this title”; and 
 

(b) “It shall be unlawful for any person to make false representation to 
obtain any personal information from an individual's motor vehicle 
record.” 
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85. Defendant St. Martin and potentially other named or unknown Defendants 

John/Jane Doe individually violated: 

(a) 18 U.S.C. § 2721(c) by redisclosing the information derived from 

the unauthorized search of the Louisiana Department of Motor 

Vehicle’s (“Louisiana’s DMV”)database to Cantrell; and  

(b) 18 U.S.C. § 2722(a) by conducting the search of Louisiana’s 

DMV in the absence of a permissible use; 

86.  Defendants Cantrell and Davis individually violated 18 U.S.C. § 2722(a) and (b) by 

soliciting, obtaining and/or using the information derived from the St. Martin and other unknown 

John/Jane Doe defendants in the absence of a permissible use.  

87.  “A person who knowingly obtains, discloses or uses personal information, from a 

motor vehicle record, for a purpose not permitted under this chapter shall be liable to the individual 

to whom the information pertains, who may bring a civil action in a United States district court.” 

18 U.S.C. § 2724.  Accordingly, Breaud now brings this civil action. 

C.  COUNT 3:  VIOLATIONS OF 18 U.S.C. § 1030 – COMPUTER 
FRAUD AND ABUSE ACT (CFAA) 

88. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

89. Upon information and belief, Defendants St. Martin, Guzman, Gant, Cantrell, Davis 

and other unknown John/Jane Doe Defendants individually violated 18 U.S.C. § 1030 by soliciting, 

obtaining and/or using the information derived from the National Crime Information Center (NCIC)  

in the absence of a permissible use.  

90. Defendants Cantrell and Davis in turn published the improperly precured private 

personal information belonging to Plaintiff Anne Breaud to countless number of third-parties 
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through the inclusion of said personal private information in her Petition for Protection filed on 

May 10, 2024.  

  

D.  COUNT 4:  VIOLATIONS OF 18 U.S.C. §§ 2510-2523 – 
ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS PRIVACY ACT 
(ECPA) 

91. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

92. Upon information and belief, Defendants St. Martin, Guzman, Gant, Cantrell, Davis 

and other unnamed John/Jane Doe Defendants individually violated 18 U.S.C. §§ 2510 by 

soliciting, obtaining and/or using the information derived from the National Crime Information 

Center (NCIC)  or other databases used by law enforcement agencies in the absence of a permissible 

use.  

93. Defendants Cantrell and Davis in turn published the improperly precured private 

personal information belonging to Plaintiff Anne Breaud to countless number of third-parties 

through the inclusion of said personal private information in her Petition for Protection filed on 

May 10, 2024.  

 

D.  COUNT 5:  VIOLATIONS OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT TO 
THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION 

94. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

95. Defendants Ryan St. Martin, Guzman, Gant, NOPD and other unnamed John/Jane 

Doe Defendants violated Plaintiff Breaud’s Fourth Amendment right to unreasonable search and 

seizures by improperly accessing her private personal information contained in state and national 
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databases without just cause and in turn provided it to Defendants Cantrell and Davis who were not 

entitled to receive this information and who published it to countless third-parties in a wanton and 

reckless manner.       

E. COUNT 6: DEFAMATION 

96. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

97. Defendant LaToya Cantrell falsely accused Anne Breaud of criminal conduct and 

published these falsehoods to the public at large. 

98. These baseless allegations made and disseminated by Cantrell and Davis are 

severely injurious to Breaud’s reputation as a citizen of New Orleans. Under Louisiana law, there 

are four elements necessary to establish a claim for defamation: 

(a) “a false and defamatory statement concerning another;” 

(b) “an unprivileged publication to a third party;” 

(c) “fault (negligence or greater) on the part of the publisher;” and 

(d) “resulting injury.”6
  

 

99. “In Louisiana, defamatory words have traditionally been divided into two 

categories: those that are defamatory per se and those that are susceptible of a defamatory 

meaning.”7
  

 
6 Kennedy v. Sheriff of E. Baton Rouge, 05-1418 (La. 7/10/06) 935 So.2d 669, 674. 
7 Kennedy, 935 So. 2d at 674-75; Costello v. Hardy, 03-1146 (La. 1/21/04), 864 So. 2d 129,140 
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100. “Words which expressly or implicitly accuse another of criminal conduct, or 

which by their very nature tend to injure one’s personal or professional reputation, even without 

considering extrinsic facts or surrounding circumstances, are considered defamatory per se.”8
  

101. “When a plaintiff proves publication of words that are defamatory per se, falsity and 

malice (or fault) are presumed, but may be rebutted by the defendant. Injury may also be 

presumed.”9
  

102. Cantrell’s statements included that Breaud engaged in a “pattern of stalking, 

harassing and intimidating Cantrell and her family,” which is defamatory per se as it expressly 

accuses Breaud of the crime of stalking and by its very nature injures Breaud’s personal and 

professional reputation. 

103. Because Breaud’s statements were defamatory per se, falsity, malice, and injury are 

presumed.10
  

104. By making her false and defamatory statements concerning Breaud’s actions in 

pleadings filed into the public record, Defendants Cantrell and Davis have made unprivileged 

publications to multiple third parties.11 

 

105. Defendants Cantrell and Davis’ false statements have irreparably damaged Breaud’s 

reputation as an upstanding citizen in the City of New Orleans.  

 
8 Costello, 864 So. 2d at 140. 
9 Kennedy, 935 So. 2d at 675. 
10  Even if these elements were not presumed, Cantrell’s actions demonstrate negligence or reckless disregard for the 
truth.  Cantrell made these false and defamatory statements against Breaud without having any personal knowledge 
or information of the alleged conduct of Breaud.  None of these allegations can be considered to have been based upon 
reasonable belief as Cantrell conducted absolutely no inquiry into whether Breaud had engaged in any of the alleged 
conduct of Breaud set forth in Cantrell’s Petition for Protection.  
11 See Costello, 864 So. 2d at 146.  
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106. These statements have jeopardized Breaud’s ability to garner the trust of her 

potential real estate clients and have thereby jeopardized her livelihood.  

107. Further, these false statements are obstacles to any public office or position to which 

Breaud may aspire.  

108. Breaud has incurred significant expenses in defending herself against these false 

and baseless claims. 

 

F. COUNT 7: ABUSE OF PROCESS 

109. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

110. Cantrell willfully abused the legal process by seeking and obtaining an Order of 

Protection/TRO against Breaud for an ulterior purpose. 

111. Specifically, Cantrell sought the Order of Protection/TRO against Breaud 

purportedly to protect Cantrell and her family from stalking, harassment, intimidation, when, in 

fact, no such conduct was occurring or was ever threatened.   

112. Because no such conduct was occurring or threatened, Defendant Cantrell was 

motivated by ulterior purposes, including, but not limited to: 

(a) to oppress, damage, humiliate, vex, and/or spite Breaud; 

(b) to make an example of Breaud as what happens when you expose 
Defendant Cantrell’s actions; 

(c) to keep Breaud, and others from exposing her inappropriate sexual 
relationship with former NOPD Offiicer Jeffrey Vappie and exposing 
criminal conduct for which he has been indicted in United States District 
Court; and  

(d) to punish Breaud for exercising her constitutionally protected rights 
under the Louisiana and United States Constitutions; 
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113. Defendant Cantrell, motivated by a perceived wrong, chose to wield a legal shield 

as a sword. Cantrell sought and obtained a result that was not proper under the law and did so 

knowingly.  She maliciously misused and misapplied this process.  

114. To this end, Defendant Cantrell, under false pretenses, improperly obtained private 

personal information about Breaud from the NOPD, which was in turn provided to Cantrell in 

violation of federal and state laws and to abet Cantrell in her tortious acts toward Breaud.  

115. Breaud was severely injured by Cantrell’s abuse of process, financially and 

emotionally: he was forced to defend himself against this abuse of process and incur legal fees, 

divert resources from his own legal practice, and endure the accompanying trauma. 

116.  Breaud’s claim for abuse of process is not premature and has fully ripened because 

there was bona fide termination in favor of Breaud, which was dismissed with prejudice by 

Cantrell. The Civil District Court struck from the pleading any reference to a request for a 

Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction. Cantrell’s claims for the Order of 

Protection in the form of a restraining order have been dismissed by Civil District Court. 

G. COUNT 8: ABUSE OF RIGHT 
 

117. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and ncorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

118. Defendant Cantrell committed an abuse of right when she carried out the above-

identified conduct including, but not limited to, requesting her subordinates on the New Orleans 

Police Department to acquire information Plaintiff Anne Breaud, drafting a false petition seeking 

injunctive relief and obtaining the Order of Protection/TRO against Breaud.  

 
119. With respect to Defendant Cantrell’s abuse of these rights: 
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(a) her predominant motive for the exercise of these rights was to 
cause harm; 
 

(b) there was no serious or legitimate motive for the exercise of these 
rights; 
 

(c) the exercise of these rights violated moral rules, good faith, and 
elementary fairness; and 
 

(d) the exercise of the rights was for a purpose other than for which 
they were granted. 

120. Upon information and belief, Defendants St. Martin, Davis and other named and 

unnamed defendants knowingly and willingly assisted Defendant Cantrell in committing this 

abuse of right. 

121. Breaud’s claim for abuse of right is not premature and has fully ripened because 

there was bona fide ruling by the Civil District Court in favor of Breaud, and against Cantrell. 

122.  The Civil District Court struck from the pleading any reference to a request for a 

Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction. Cantrell’s claims for the Order of 

Protection/TRO and Preliminary Injunction have been dismissed by the court. 

H. COUNT 9: INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

123. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

124. Cantrell committed Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress (“IIED”) against 

Breaud by seeking and obtaining an Order for Protection/TRO against Breaud on false and 

defamatory grounds and by continuing to pursue and promulgate these claims in the public arena 

despite knowing they were false. 
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125. Cantrell’s above-described conduct, including, but not limited to, her lodging of 

patently false and defamatory criminal allegations within a civil lawsuit to pursue an Order of 

Protection/TRO, was extreme and outrageous. 

126. Breaud has suffered and will continue to suffer severe emotional distress from these  

groundless assaults on her character. 

127. At the very least, Cantrell, knew that her false and defamatory statements against 

Breaud were likely or certain that Breaud would suffer emotional distress as a result of her 

conduct.  However, as demonstrated by Cantrell’s pattern of behavior, it is apparent that Cantrell 

intended for Breaud to suffer severe emotional distress. 

128. Upon information and belief, and as described above, Defendants Guzman, Gant, 

St. Martin, Davis and other unnamed John/Jane Defendants, knowingly and willingly assisted the 

exaction of Cantrell’s retribution against Plaintiff Breaud. 

129. Accordingly, Cantrell, Davis, and Davis, are liable for the IIED against Breaud in 

relative shares to be determined in accordance with either: (a) comparative fault under La. Civ. 

Code art. 2323; or (b) as solidary or joint tortfeasors under La. Civ. Code art. 2324. 

I. COUNT 10: MALICIOUS PROSECUTION 

130. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

131. Cantrell committed the tort of malicious prosecution by seeking an Order of 

Protection/Temporary Restraining Order against Breaud without probable cause, pursuing its 

enforcement, and zealously maintaining the action before its dismissal.   
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132. Breaud incurred significant financial and emotional injuries as a result of Cantrell’s 

actions including, but not limited to, damage to her reputation, expenses incurred as a result of her 

defense, lost business opportunities, and psychological trauma. 

J. COUNT 11: GENERAL TORT LIABILITY 

133. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

134. Under Louisiana law, the fountainhead of tort liability is La. Civ. Code art. 2315, 

which provides “[e]very act whatever of man that causes damage to another obliges him by whose 

fault it happened to repair it.”   

135. Breaud has been damaged by the Defendants’ tortious conduct hereinabove 

described.   

136. In addition to the above Counts, each of the Defendants is liable to repair the 

damages sustained by Breaud as a result of their tortious conduct. 

 

K. COUNT 12: VICARIOUS LIABILITY  

136. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

137. The City of New Orleans is vicariously liable for Defendant Guzman’s tortious 

conduct (Counts 6-11 made pursuant to state law) identified in this Complaint because Defendant 

St. Martin was acting within the course and scope of her employment as a member of the NOPD at 

the time she committed these wrongs. 
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138.  The City of New Orleans is vicariously liable for Defendant Gant’s tortious 

conduct (Counts 6-11 made pursuant to state law) identified in this Complaint because Defendant 

Gant was acting within the course and scope of his employment as a member of the NOPD at the 

time he committed these wrongs. 

139. The City of New Orleans is vicariously liable for Defendant St. Martin’s tortious 

conduct (Counts 6-11 made pursuant to state law) identified in this Complaint because Defendant 

St. Martin was acting within the course and scope of his employment as a member of the NOPD at 

the time he committed these wrongs. 

140. The City of New Orleans is vicariously liable for Defendant Davis’ tortious conduct, 

is vicariously liable for his tortious activity (Counts 6-11made pursuant to state law) identified in 

this Complaint because he was acting within the course and scope of his employment as a member 

of the Mayor Cantrell’s executive staff and at the time he committed these wrongs. 

L. COUNT 13: – CIVIL RICO  

141. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-78 herein are realleged and incorporated 

by reference, as fully set forth herein. 

142. Plaintiff herein asserts her right to a private cause of action under 18 U.S.C. 

Section 1962 (c) and (d). 

143. This complaint alleges, inter alia, violations of the Racketeering Influenced and 

Corrupt Organizations Act ("RICO"), 18 U.S.C. § § 1961-1968, and is brought by Plaintiff Breaud 

in connection with a series of schemes, devised, conducted and/or participated in by the individual 

defendants (sometimes referred to as the “RICO Defendants” or “Enterprise”), each of whom 

participated in the enterprise. The individual RICO Defendants conducted or participated, directly 
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or indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of the Enterprise through a pattern of racketeering, and 

conspired to do so, all to the detriment of Plaintiff Anne Breaud. 

144.   During the relevant times set forth herein, the RICO Defendants conspired with one 

another to deny Plaintiff Anne Breaud the freedom to access certain places within the City of New 

Orleans where Defendant Cantrell was present, such as restaurants in close proximity to Breaud’s home 

as well as New Orleans’ City Hall. The multifarious racketeering activities through which the broad 

objectives of the RICO Defendants were carried out through and consisted of a complex pattern of 

individual transactions and groups of transactions.  

145. The Enterprise, operating from May 9, 2024 to Present, managed the day to day  in 

order to shield Defendant Cantrell from public scrutiny and local and federal oversight.  

 

VI. CONCLUSION  

146. While Cantell falsely painted herself as the victim of a pattern of stalking, 

harassment and intimidation by Breaud, it is Cantrell who has engaged in a pattern of harassment 

and character assassination against Breaud, a person wrongly accused by Cantrell of stalking solely 

because Breaud captured a photograph of Cantrell and Vappie in a compromising position.  

147. Upon learning of Breaud’s position through the Motion to Strike, that Breaud was 

not involved in any of the conduct alleged to be stalking and harassment, Cantrell failed to 

immediately mitigate the damages by admitting she was wrong and dismissing Breaud from the 

Order of Protection action. 

148. Instead, Defendant Cantrell instructed her attorney to obtain a continuance of the 

matter for thirty (30) days during which the temporary restraining order impeding Breaud’s 

activities was extended.  
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149. Cantrell’s  conduct is particularly egregious given it was directed toward Anne 

Breaud, a mere citizen of New Orleans and non-public figure, to an bring this action in the first 

place. 

150. Cantrell has caused Breaud significant financial harm as Breaud was forced to hire 

an attorney to defend her against the serious defamatory and criminal allegations brought by 

Cantrell and to work towards fashioning a legal remedy to mitigate the damage done to Breaud’s 

reputation by Cantrell’s reckless and malicious actions. 

151. In addition, Breaud has spent a significant amount of time assisting counsel with the 

preparation of pleadings, reviewing documents and developing a strategy to extricate herself from 

the reckless mess that Cantrell has so callously created. This has drawn time away from Breaud’s 

own work, causing additional financial harm. 

152. The serious and disgusting false allegations brought against Breaud by Defendant 

Cantrell have tarnished Breaud’s impeccable reputation and disrupted Breaud’s personal life 

causing her mental anguish and emotional distress and adversely affecting her quality of life. 

153. Cantrell brought the Order of Protection/TRO action during and in furtherance of 

her attempts to deprive Breaud of her constitutionally protected activities, hoping to gain a tactical 

advantage against Breaud and any other individual or firm willing to expose Cantrell’s questionable 

behavior and paint herself as a victim of the public ridicule by having the Court issue Order of 

Protection/ TRO against Breaud that would, in effect, severely restrict Breaud’s ability to conduct 

constitutionally protected activities.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

WHEREFORE, Anne W. Breaud requests that the Defendants hereinabove named be 

cited to appear and answer, and that on final trial this Honorable Court: 
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1. Find that Defendants LaToya W. Cantrell, Clifton Davis II, Leslie D. Guzman, Victor M, 

Gant, Ryan St. Martin, NOPD, and the City of New Orleans, individually deprived Breaud 

of a civil right in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 

2. Find that Defendants Leslie D. Guzman, Victor M. Gant, Ryan St. Martin, NOPD, City of New 

Orleans, Clifton Davis II, LaToya W. Cantrell and unnamed John/Jane Doe Defendants 

individually and collectively as part of the Enterprise violated the Driver’s Privacy Protection 

Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 2721-2725, specifically § 2722(a), (b) and (c); 

3. Find that Defendants Leslie D. Guzman, Victor M. Gant, Ryan St. Martin, NOPD, City of New 

Orleans, Clifton Davis II, LaToya W. Cantrell and John/Joe Doe Defendants individually and 

collectively as part of the Enterprise violated the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (CFAA), 18 

U.S.C. § 1030, et seq.  

4. Find that Defendants Leslie D. Guzman, Victor M. Gant, Ryan St. Martin, NOPD, City of New 

Orleans, Clifton Davis II, LaToya W. Cantrell and John/Joe Doe Defendants individually and 

collectively as part of the Enterprise violated the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (CFAA), 18 

U.S.C. § 1030, et seq.  

5. Find that Defendants Leslie D. Guzman, Victor M. Gant, Ryan St. Martin, NOPD, City of New 

Orleans, Clifton Davis II, LaToya W. Cantrell and John/Joe Doe Defendants individually and 

collectively as part of the Enterprise violated the Electronic Communications Privacy Act 

(ECPA), 18 U.S.C. §§ 2510-2523, et seq.  

 

6. Find that Defendants Leslie D. Guzman, Victor M. Gant, Ryan St. Martin, NOPD, City of New 

Orleans, and unnamed John/Joe Doe Defendants individually and collectively as part of the 
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Enterprise violated Anne W. Breaud’s Fourth Amendment Right against illegal search and 

seizures of her private personal information.  

7. Find that the allegations contained in Cantrell’s Petition for Protection made by Defendants 

LaToya W. Cantrell and Clifton Davis II’s against Plaintiff Anne Breaud were false and 

without merit and which were published into public records constitutes defamation per se; 

8. Find that Defendant LaToya W. Cantrell’s false statements that Anne Breaud engaged in 

criminal conduct including stalking, harassing, intimidating Breaud and other inappropriate 

behavior constitute defamation per se  responsible for the consequences of LaToya W. 

Cantrell’s actions; 

9. Order the City of New Orleans and the NOPD to permanently remove from their records 

the false statements contained in NOPD Incident Report No. E-08673-24; 

10. Enter judgment against the Defendants for actual damages, including, but not limited to attorney’s 

fees and other litigation costs incurred by the Plaintiff Breaud in defending the Petition for 

Protection,  lost income resulting from time spent defending against the Petition for Protection, 

damage to Plaintiff’s reputation and mental anguish and emotional distress, suffered by Plaintiff due 

to the actions of Defendants in the amount of $500,000 to be allocated among the Defendants as the 

Court deems appropriate; 

11. Enter judgment against Defendants LaToya W. Cantrell, Leslie D. Guzman, Victor Gant, 

Ryan St. Martin, Clifton Davis II, the City of New Orleans, and other unnamed John and/or 

Jane Doe defendants for punitive damages in the amount of $500,000.00 for their willful 

and reckless disregard of the law as provided by 18 U.S.C. § 2724(b)(2); 
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12. Find that Defendant Cantrell, assisted by Davis, St. Martin, the NOPD, the City of New 

Orleans and other unnamed John and/or Jane Doe defendants committed an abuse of process 

under Louisiana law and enter an award of damages in favor of Breaud; 

13. Find that Defendant Cantrell, assisted by Davis, Guzman, Gant, St. Martin, the NOPD, the 

City of New Orleans and other unnamed John and/or Jane Doe defendants committed an 

abuse of right under Louisiana law and enter an award of damages against them in favor of 

Breaud; 

14. Find that Cantrell, assisted by assisted by Defendants Davis, Guzman, Gant, St. Martin, the 

NOPD, the City of New Orleans and other unnamed John and/or Jane Doe defendants, 

committed intentional infliction of emotional distress against Breaud and enter an award of 

damages against them in favor of Breaud; 

 
15. Find that Defendant Cantrell, assisted by Defendant Davis committed malicious prosecution 

and enter an award of damages against her in favor of Breaud; 

16. Find that the Defendants are liable for their tortious conduct (Counts 6-11) under La. Civ. 

Code art. 2315 and enter an award of damages against them in favor of Plaintiff Breaud; 

17. Find that the City of New Orleans is vicariously liable for the tortious conduct (Counts 6-

11 made pursuant to state law) of Cantrell, Davis, Guzman, Gant, St. Martin, the NOPD, 

and the other unnamed John and/or Jane Doe Defendants; 

18. For attorney’s fees and other litigation costs incurred by the Plaintiff in this action to be 

allocated among the Defendants, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, and 18 U.S.C. 

§2724(b)(3), and/or other statutory bases as the Court deems appropriate;  
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19. Find that the Defendants participated in the Enterprise to violate Plaintiff’s constitutionally 

protect civil rights.   

20. For such other relief, equitable or otherwise, to which the Plaintiff may be entitled. 

 

             Respectfully submitted, 
 
LAW OFFICES OF JUSTIN B. SCHMIDT, LLC 

 
 

/s/  Justin B. Schmidt 
____________________________________ 
Justin B. Schmidt (LA Bar No. 25864) 
1506 Seventh Street 
New Orleans, LA  70115 
Telephone: (504) 451-6567 
Facsimile:  (504) 370-9079 
justinschmidtlaw@gmail.com 

   Counsel for Plaintiff Anne W. Breaud  
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